# National COPD Audit Programme



# **Planning for every breath**

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Primary care audit (Wales) 2015–17

National report December 2017

Prepared by:



Royal College of General Practitioners

# Imperial College London

Commissioned by:



Working in wider partnership with and endorsed by:





Association of Respiratory Nurse Specialists







Association for Respiratory Technology & Physiology

> Care Quality Commission



ROYAL

SOCIETY

British Geriatrics Society Improving healthcare for older people

PHARMACEUTICAL











#### The Royal College of Physicians

The Royal College of Physicians (RCP) plays a leading role in the delivery of high-quality patient care by setting standards of medical practice and promoting clinical excellence. The RCP provides physicians in over 30 medical specialties with education, training and support throughout their careers. As an independent charity representing over 34,000 fellows and members worldwide, the RCP a dvises and works with government, patients, a llied healthcare professionals and the public to improve health and healthcare.

#### Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP)

The National COPD Audit Programme is commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) as part of the National Clinical Audit (NCA) Programme. HQIP is led by a consortium of the Aca demy of Medical Royal Colleges, the Royal College of Nursing and National Voices. Its aim is to promote quality improvement, and in particular to increase the impact that clinical audit has on healthcare quality in England and Wales. HQIP holds the contract to manage and develop the NCA Programme, comprising more than 30 clinical audits that cover care provided to people with a wide range of medical, surgical and mental health conditions. The programme is funded by NHS England, the Welsh Government and, with some individual audits, also funded by the Health Department of the Scottish Government, DHSSPS Northern Ireland and the Channel Islands.

Citation for this document: Baxter N, McMillan V, Holzhauer-Barrie J, Robinson S, Stone P, Quint J, Roberts CM. Planning for every breath. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Primary care audit (Wales) 2015–17. National report. London: RCP, December 2017.

#### Copyright

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form (including photocopying or storing it in any medium by electronic means and whether or not transiently or incidentally to some other use of this publication) without the written permission of the copyright owner. Applications for the copyright owner's written permission to reproduce any part of this publication should be addressed to the publisher.

Copyright © Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership 2017

ISBN 978-1-86016-700-3 eISBN 978-1-86016-701-0

Royal College of Physicians Care Quality Improvement Department 11 St Andrews Place Regent's Park London NW14LE

www.rcplondon.ac.uk/COPD @NatCOPDAudit #COPDAudit #COPDPRaudit #COPDPRbreathebetter #COPDauditQI Registered charity no 210508



## Contents

Report at a glanœ
Contents5
How to use this report
Introduction7
Key findings and quality improvement opportunities8
Demographics and comorbidities8
Getting the diagnosis right9
Assessing severity and future risk13
Providing high-value care
Ensuring equal and equitable care16
Recommendations
Primary care19
People with or worried about COPD, their families and carers
Respiratory specialists
System managers
Document purpose
References

#### How to use this report

This report contains the main messages and key recommendations derived from an extensive analysis of data. The full data analyses, as well as the rationale for each question's inclusion, are available online (via www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath) for in-depth perusal. These can be accessed either in full (Planning for every breath. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Primary care audit (Wales) 2015–17. Data analysis and methodology) or in the following component sections:

- Demographics and comorbidities
- Getting the diagnosis right
- Assessing severity and future risk
- Providing high-value care
- Ensuring equal and equitable care

The data are presented largely in tabular form, with explanatory notes throughout. Although these data are available to the interested reader, it is not necessary to review them to appreciate the key messages, which are outlined below. We strongly advise discussion of these findings within and between GP surgeries at cluster level, and further review at health board level.

Please note that all appendices for this report, including the full methodology, can be found in the online data report. The online data report also contains the rationale (including the guidelines and standards that they map to) for the inclusion of each query.

### Introduction

This report presents national and health board data from the second cycle of the National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme's Welsh primary care audit, which were extracted in June 2017 to capture activity between April 2015 and March 2017. Cluster results are available in the health board reports, which are available at www.rcplondon.ac.uk /planningeverybreath. Primary care providers can access their data via the NHS Wales Primary Care Information Portal.

In the first audit cycle (2014-15), data to answer 29 queries were extracted from GP systems. Feedback from stakeholders and learning from that work resulted in a reduction (via clinical and stakeholder consensus) to 14 queries for this extraction, with an increased focus on queries that directly relate to opportunities for improving quality.<sup>1</sup> We have also specifically focused (in section 5) on diagnostic and care issues through a lens of equity and parity, and we would recommend further analysis at a local level where disparities are identified.

The methodology employed in the first cycle of audit has not been replicated in this round of audit and, therefore, like-for-like comparisons have not been undertaken. Essentially, in the first round of audit the denominator used was all people on the COPD register, as determined by the use of Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) codes. Recent work looking at the accuracy of COPD coding with respect to the QOF register has shown that use of other Read codes<sup>a</sup> (ie not necessarily included on the register) is more suggestive of COPD with high positive predictive value, and equally, some of the codes used in the QOF do not have a high sensitivity for identifying people with COPD.<sup>12</sup> Therefore, in this audit the denominator population is likely to be more accurate (potentially excluding some of the people on the QOF register, but also including others who are not), than if we had simply included people on the COPD QOF register. It is intended that this improved process will be replicated in any future rounds of audit, thus providing assurance on future measurement to determine change.

In the first report, <sup>2</sup> our results revealed that processes of care for people with COPD in primary care were not as well assured as had been hoped. For example, the proportion of patients with a record of the most appropriate diagnostic test for COPD was sub-optimal, and fewer patients than expected were referred to pulmonary rehabilitation, or prescribed smoking cessation interventions. The findings of this second report suggest that this remains the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Read Codes are a coded thesaurus of clinical terms. They provide a standard vocabulary for clinicians to record patient findings and procedures in health and social care IT systems. https://digital.nhs.uk/article/1104/Read-Codes

## Key findings and quality improvement opportunities

Primary care providers actively opted in to this audit. No data were extracted from practices unless written confirmation of this opt-in was provided. In this cycle, **408 practices** (94% of all GP practices in Wales) opted in, providing – after data cleansing – **82,696 patient records** for analysis.



### Demographics and comorbidities

To see the data analysis in full, please access the analysis and methodology report at www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath



- The average age of the patient cohort was **70.7 years old**.
- There were a **similar number of men and women** (50.5% vs 49.5%). This is consistent with the findings of other studies conducted in the UK, but different from the COPD demographic internationally, where the disease is considerably more prevalent in men.<sup>3,4,5</sup>
- The data confirm what has been found in other published literature:<sup>6,7</sup> people with COPD are likely to have at least one other long-term condition.
  - The most common physical comorbidities were cardiovascular; hypertension (52.7%) and coronary heart disease (40.0%), diabetes (22.6%), osteoporosis (12.9%), painful conditions<sup>b</sup> (12.6%) and stroke (10.4%).
- Mental health problems were common in the cohort:
  - o **30.5%** of the cohort have a current diagnosis of **anxiety**.
  - **30.1%** have a current diagnosis of **depression**.
  - Despite these high rates, in the past 2 years, at most 17.5% had a record of screening for depression or anxiety; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance recommends that primary care be alert to possible depression or anxiety in patients with a chronic physical health problem.<sup>8,9</sup> Anxiety and depression significantly reduce quality of life, and can impede self-management (for example, attendance and completion of pulmonary rehabilitation (PR).<sup>10,11,12,13</sup>
  - **7.8%** had ever had a diagnosis of a **severe mental (ie psychotic) illness (SMI)**. This is approximately eight times higher than the rates in the general population.<sup>14</sup>
- In addition, **41.9%** of this cohort had a **co-diagnosis of asthma** recorded. This is likely to reflect diagnostic uncertainty, and is not in keeping with epidemiological data of validated diagnostic overlap.<sup>1,15,16,17</sup> This finding should, therefore, not be accepted at face value. Treatment pathways are different for these conditions and poor-value healthcare is a likely outcome if diagnostic confusion exists.<sup>18,19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Defined as patients who had a record of four or more prescription analgesia medications in the past 12 months, or four or more specified anti-epileptics in the absence of an epilepsy Read code in the past 12 months.

#### **Quality improvement opportunities**

- COPD and asthma overlap:
  - Define the proportion of people with a dual diagnosis of asthma and COPD and review the evidence for each diagnosis.
  - Where there is diagnostic uncertainty, follow national or local guidelines on differentiating asthma from COPD (eg NICE guidance on COPD,<sup>20</sup> the British Thoracic Society (BTS) / Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) guideline on asthma,<sup>21</sup> the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) guide on COPD<sup>19</sup> or the NICE guidance on asthma<sup>22</sup>).
  - Where both diagnoses do co-exist, ensure that treatment is tailored to the patient and appropriate pharmacotherapy (inhaled corticosteroids (ICS)) is used to manage the asthma component of disease. Collaboration between airways specialists and primary care teams is particularly important to ensure that proper local pathways are described, to assure both best-value diagnosis and therapy options.
  - Where a diagnosis of asthma is not justified on review, use the guidelines outlined above to withdraw inappropriate therapy.
- COPD and mental wellbeing:
  - Is screening for anxiety and depression part of the annual COPD review?
  - $\circ$  What proportion of patients identified with symptoms of depression or anxiety are treated in line with NICE guidelines?  $^{8}$

# Getting the diagnosis right

To see the data analysis in full, please access the analysis and methodology report at www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath

- NICE guidance and quality standards state that **all patients over the age of 35** who present with symptoms of COPD should have a spirometry test to confirm their diagnosis.<sup>20,23</sup>
  - 54.3% of patients diagnosed since the last round of audit (ie within the last two years) had a record of FEV1/FVC<sup>c</sup> ratio<sup>d</sup> with a corresponding result consistent with COPD (eg between 0.2 and 0.7).
  - However, only 11.1% of patients diagnosed within the last two years had a record of the gold standard diagnostic test for COPD (a post-bronchodilator FEV1/FVC, as recorded by Read code 339m).
    - 8.5% of the population (76.0% of those with code 339m) had a result for this test that was consistent with airways obstruction and COPD (ie an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Forced expiratory volume (FEV1) / forced vital capacity (FVC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Using the list of 339 Read codes included in appendix C of the data report.

<sup>©</sup> Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership 2017

FEV1/FVC ratio of between 0.2 and 0.7).

- **2.7% of the population** (24.0% of those with code 339m) had a result recorded for 339m that was inconsistent with COPD or was invalid.
- NICE guidelines recommend that, in addition to spirometry, **all patients should have a chest X-ray** at the time of their initial diagnosis to exclude other pathologies.<sup>20,23</sup>
  - Of the cohort of patients diagnosed since the last round of audit (ie in the past two years), 39.6% had a chest X-ray or CT scan within 6 months of their diagnosis (pre or post).

Accurate diagnosis of COPD is critical if appropriate management of symptomatic patients is to be achieved. Accurate diagnosis, following history and examination, can only be achieved by confirmation with spirometry showing an FEV1/FVC ratio of <0.7.<sup>20</sup> The evidence from both rounds of primary care audit is that, in many cases, the diagnosis is unclear or unconfirmed. This may be because spirometry has not been performed, because it has been performed but the results are not Read coded, or because the Read-coded results are not consistent with a diagnosis of COPD.

The cardinal symptom of COPD is breathlessness. Common differential diagnoses include cardiac disease, obesity, anaemia, lung cancer and fibrotic lung disease.<sup>24</sup> The consequences of not considering all other causes of breathlessness or being assured that the patient has COPD are serious; reversible and treatable conditions can be missed and the patient will be treated for a condition they do not have, <sup>25,26</sup> which can be both costly and potentially dangerous.<sup>27,28,29,30,31</sup> These two real cases illustrate how important it is to get the diagnosis right.

Rich	e study 1: ard Hale years old)	<ul> <li>He has COPD that has been diagnosed by quality-assured spirometry with mild airflow limitation (FEV1 82% predicted)</li> <li>He has an MRC breathlessness score of 2.</li> <li>He has had no more than one 'chest infection' a year.</li> <li>He works as a plumber, and he is a smoker.</li> <li>He uses a short-acting bronchodilator 'sometimes'.</li> </ul>	
Incident:			Lessons learned:
A year before his diagnosis, Richard had a chest X-ray because of an acute respiratory infection; it did not show any abnormality. He was tested for COPD following another respiratory infection the following year because it took him a long time to improve and get back to work, although there was no repeat chest X-ray that time. Ten months later he presented with lower back pain, numbness in one side of his mouth, loss of energy and he could no longer walk and talk owing to his breathing. His chest X-ray showed a <b>large lesion in one lung</b> and		Every new case of COPD should be made in the presence of a recent (less than 6 months) chest X-ray. People with COPD are at very high risk of lung cancer and every annual review or change	

with spinal and brain spread.

subsequent CT imaging showed smaller lung nodules in both sides,

in symptoms is an

opportunity to look for it.

	Case study 2: Deborah Kelly (75 years old)	<ul> <li>History:</li> <li>Diagnosed with COPD withou ago.</li> <li>She has no MRC score or exarecord.</li> <li>She is on a long-acting beta a (LABA), a long-acting muscar a high-dose inhaled corticost</li> <li>She is a smoker (10 pack-year)</li> </ul>	adrenoceptor agonist inic antagonist (LAMA) and teroid.
Incident:			Lessons learned:
She is more breathless than usual and attends A&E, where she is diagnosed with an exacerbation of COPD. However, she goes back to her GP practice because she does not respond to oral prednisolone. Her new GP notices the absence of spirometry on her record, and so initiates a new breathlessness assessment.			COPD can only be diagnosed in the presence of a risk factor, symptoms and confirmatory spirometry (and possibly further lung
She feels faint when she stands up and she has a cardiac murmur in the apex of her chest, as well as bilateral basal crackles. Her echocardiogram confirms <b>severe mitral stenosis and atrial dilatation</b> . She confirms that she had rheumatic fever as a child. Subsequent spirometry does not show airflow limitation.			function tests or a CT scan).



### **Quality improvement opportunities**

- Spirometry should be performed by people who are trained to do and interpret the test.
  - In Wales, the Association for Respiratory Technology and Physiology (ARTP) with the Institute of Clinical Science and Technology (ICST) has developed a programme of training and certification for people in primary care wishing to perform or interpret spirometry that is supported by the Welsh Respiratory Health Implementation Group (RHIG).<sup>32,33,34</sup>
- Identify those people with a COPD diagnosis who do not have a chest X-ray result coded within 6 months of their diagnosis.
  - Review the notes and, if a record of a chest X-ray can be found, add an appropriate code. If no record can be found, and the patient has only recently been diagnosed (ie in the past 6 months), order an X-ray.
  - Where diagnosis is in question, carry out a breathlessness assessment that looks for COPD and other causes.



Quality improvement case study Mark Allen, a clinical practice pharmacist from Cardiff, describes a QI project that

he performed locally to improve the accuracy of the COPD register.

The diagnostic spirometry results (based on Read code 339m – FEV1/FVC ratio after bronchodilation) of all patients on our COPD register were identified. In some cases, this required extensive review of the notes and calculation of the ratio (from full spirometry results). If patients had been diagnosed by another means (eg chest X-ray), the earliest spirometry after diagnosis date was used. All values were entered into a spreadsheet.

For those patients whose first recorded ratio was >0.7 (ie not consistent with COPD), subsequent spirometry results (if available) were reviewed, to see whether their condition had deteriorated to bring them into diagnostic range. Patients who had a result inconsistent with COPD are currently being reviewed by a clinician.

Going forward, a new spirometry template has been written and the Read code 339m has been instigated as the diagnostic results' code of choice. Our work has also led to recording of MRC score at every review, and recording of annual exacerbation counts.

#### **Results:**

- Number of patients on register at start of project = **180** 
  - two patients were removed from the register because of erroneous codes (one asthma patient; one bronchiectasis patient).
  - Of the remaining **178 patients**:
    - only four cases had the 339m code in their records, two of which were expressed as a percentage, and the other two had no value attached, but instead an FEV1 score inserted as text in the notes section.
  - For the **174** cases where a code was not readily available (and review of the notes was required):
    - 32 patients (18%) had an FEV1/FVC ratio >0.7 (ie not consistent with COPD)
    - **142 patients** had a record of a ratio consistent with COPD.

#### Actions taken:

- The notes of **five of the 32 patients with a FEV1/FVC ratio >0.7** have been reviewed:
  - one has been diagnosed with emphysema
  - two others have been concluded to have COPD
  - two have been reviewed in person with spirometry (one has COPD and one does not).
- **The records of all 142 patients with an** FEV1/FVC ratio consistent with COPD have been updated with a 339m code.

#### Resources

• Primary Care Commissioning. Improving the quality of diagnostic spirometry in adults: the National Register of certified professionals and operators. www.pcc-cic.org.uk/article/quality-assured-diagnostic-spirometry [Accessed November 2017].

# Assessing severity and future risk

To see the data analysis in full, please access the analysis and methodology report at www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath

The majority of people with COPD will be self-managing, with only a small proportion receiving treatment in secondary care in any one year.<sup>20</sup> Personalised care approaches in primary care should help to ensure that:

- people are supported to self-manage
- those with current tobacco dependence or high relapse get intensive input<sup>18</sup>
- those who are able to exercise but are functionally limited by breathlessness receive PR<sup>20</sup>
- pharmacotherapy is provided in a way that maximises effectiveness and reduces harm<sup>35</sup>
- people with greater severity get expert advice on managing their symptoms<sup>36,37</sup>
- people who are hypoxic get access to life-prolonging long-term oxygen therapy.



- NICE guidelines recommend that MRC score be used to grade the breathlessness of all patients with COPD.<sup>20,23</sup>
  - Almost **40% of audited patients did not have an MRC score recorded** in the past year.
  - The majority of patients with a score had either **MRC score 2 (26.8%) or 3 (16.6%)**, reflecting a similar distribution of breathlessness to that found in the first round of audit.
- **FEV1 %-predicted** (results of which can determine treatment thresholds for inhaled therapies)<sup>23</sup> was recorded in only **27.5% of the population** in the past year.
  - Large reductions in FEV1 beyond what would be expected in usual COPD decline (>100 mL) should also trigger a breathlessness cause reassessment that can detect other treatable causes such as lung cancer.
- Tobacco smoking is the cause of COPD in the vast majority of people.<sup>41,42,43</sup> NICE quality statements say that people should be asked whether they smoke by their healthcare practitioner annually, and those who smoke should be offered advice on how to stop.<sup>38</sup>
  - 22.6% of the cohort had no record of their smoking status in the past year.
  - A further **26.5% were self-reported current smokers**.
- Using a combination of lower respiratory tract infections and the concurrent recording of antibiotics and oral prednisolone Read codes, a validated methodology for identifying **exacerbations** in primary care, <sup>2,39</sup> results revealed that **58.1% of patients had zero indication of exacerbations in the past year** and **14.6%** of patients were recorded as having **more than two exacerbations**.<sup>23</sup>
  - This is in contrast to Read-coded records of exacerbations (using either 66Yf (annual exacerbation number) or counts of HY3122, H370, H3y1 (individual exacerbation)), which suggest that exacerbations are infrequent; 82.8% of patients were recorded

as having **zero exacerbations in the past year** and only **2.9%** of patients were recorded as having **more than two exacerbations**.

People with low oxygen saturations (ie of ≤92%)<sup>40</sup> should have evidence of an arterial blood gas measurement or be referred for home oxygen therapy;<sup>20</sup> however, in the last two years, this happened for only 11.1% of relevant patients.



#### Quality improvement opportunities

- MRC score:
  - Review those patients who have not had a recent (ie annual) MRC score or FEV1 %predicted recorded.
  - Is their MRC score 3 or above (ie indicating significant functional impairment)?
    - 1) If so, consider:
      - a. appropriateness of PR referral
      - b. have they had a finger pulse oximetry test when stable?
- Exacerbations:
  - In order to personalise pharmacotherapy and obtain an accurate picture of local exacerbation rates, ensure that the 66Yf Read code and its subsequent SNOMED replacement is in the annual review consultation template.
  - Prioritise for special review people with two or more exacerbations per year. Is there overuse of home supply of steroids? Are they receiving supported self-management? Would liaison with an integrated respiratory specialist be helpful?
- Keeping tobacco status up to date:
  - Tobacco dependence is relapsing, so this is a key measure at the annual review in current smokers and ex-smokers.<sup>41,42,43</sup>
- Persistent low finger pulse oximetry indicates a need for oxygen assessment:
  - Recheck the finger pulse oximetry for all patients with a value of ≤92% when stable.<sup>44</sup> If the result persists, refer for home oxygen assessment.

#### Resources

- British Thoracic Society. BTS guidelines for home oxygen use in adults. www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/document-library/clinical-information/oxygen/home-oxygenguideline-(adults)/bts-guidelines-for-home-oxygen-use-in-adults/ [Accessed November 2017].
- To treat your patients effectively, it is important to understand them and their experience of living with COPD. The British Lung Foundation (BLF) has a range of patient stories, including Chris's video on daily life with COPD: www.blf.org.uk/your-stories/copd-affects-every-part-of-my-daily-living



# Providing high-value care

To see the data analysis in full, please access the analysis and methodology report at www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath



- Proper use of an inhaler ensures that the patient receives their medication in the way it should be delivered. The rates of critical error across devices vary between 14% and 92%.<sup>45</sup>
   NICE quality standards recommend that people with an inhaler should have their technique checked regularly.<sup>46</sup>
  - 35,572 or **46.9%** of patients who were prescribed an inhaler had their **inhaler technique checked in the past year**.
- Flu vaccination is the highest-value intervention for the treatment of COPD.<sup>47</sup> According to NICE guidelines, all patients with COPD should be offered an annual flu vaccination.<sup>20</sup>
  - **34.0% of patients had not received a flu vaccination** between 1 August 2016 and 31 March 2017.
- Of the **current smokers** in the audit cohort, **12.5%** had a record of having been referred to a behavioural change intervention **and** prescribed smoking cessation pharmacotherapy in the past 2 years. Smoking cessation reduces the decline of lung function and exacerbation rates, and enhances other COPD therapeutic options.
- NICE quality standards recommend that all COPD patients with an MRC score of 3–5 be referred for PR.<sup>2323</sup>
  - **50.2% of patients with an MRC score of 3–5** had a record of a PR referral in the past 3 years.
  - This was reduced to **21.2%** of patients when patients with any MRC score (please note that MRC score 2 referrals, in particular, are increasingly common)<sup>48,49</sup> were included in the denominator.
- **73.5%** of people who were issued an inhaler prescription in the last 6 months of the audit received an **ICS** prescription. This included:
  - 8.1% who received a prescription for ICS alone (this is not indicated in COPD)
  - $\circ$   $\,$  29.5% who received a prescription for LABA and ICS combination therapy
  - o 35.9% who received a triple therapy prescription (LABA + ICS + LAMA).

#### Quality improvement opportunities

- Prescribing responsibly. A guideline should be agreed that:
  - clearly communicates to prescribers and dispensers of COPD medication that patient inhaler technique, and the opportunity for device choice, is a priority
  - is consistent about the use of inhalers and their potential combinations and frequencies.
- Clusters and health boards should identify where variation in flu vaccine uptake in people with COPD exists and aim to improve vaccination rates in this group.<sup>50</sup>
- Where current smoking in COPD is proving hard to treat, ensure that:
  - o stop smoking specialists are available locally to deliver more intensive support
  - prescribers should be educated so they can prescribe stop smoking drugs at an appropriate dose and for an appropriate length of time.<sup>51,52</sup>
- Review those patients with an MRC score 3 or above who have not been asked about / referred to PR in the past 3 years. Review models of engagement (eg group consultation) to improve communication with potential recipients.<sup>53</sup>
- Screen patients for anxiety and depression annually, and before referral to PR. If appropriate, consider psychological intervention before referral to maximise completion.<sup>13,54</sup>

#### Resources

- UK Inhaler Group. Inhaler standards and competency document. www.respiratoryfutures.org.uk/media/69774/ukig-inhaler-standards-january-2017.pdf [Accessed November 2017].
- NHS Employers. National Wales influenza campaign. www.nhsemployers.org/campaigns/flu-fighter/flu-fighter-cymru [Accessed November 2017].
- Hopkinson N, Williams S. Flu vaccination protects you, your family and your patients still time to make a difference. Influenza vaccine for health professionals: information sheet. www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/london-lungs/documents/flu-vaccination-protectsyou-your-family-and-your-patients-still-time-to-make-a-difference/file\_popview [Accessed November 2017].

# Ensuring equal and equitable care

To see the data analysis in full, please access the analysis and methodology report at www.rcplondon.ac.uk/planningeverybreath

People with mental illness have higher rates of hospital admission, longer lengths of stay and higher mortality than others. <sup>55,56,57</sup> Standards and guidelines state that healthcare professionals should

have heightened awareness of the increased risk of adverse outcomes for both asthma and COPD patients with mental illness.<sup>8,21,58</sup> In addition, literature suggests that patients of certain characteristics (eg lower socioeconomic groups) may be less likely to receive high-quality, evidence-based care.<sup>59,60</sup>

Please note, as the prevalence is high for all outcomes other than FEV1/FVC ratio, that the odds ratios (ORs) outlined below will not approximate the relative risk for these outcomes.<sup>61</sup>



- People with severe mental illness (SMI) (relative to those without) were:
  - 25% less likely (OR: 0.75 (95% confidence interval (CI): 0.71–0.79)) to have an MRC score recorded in the past year
  - 27% less likely (OR: 0.73 (95% CI: 0.69–0.77)) to have received flu immunisation in the preceding 1 August – 31 March
  - 28% more likely (OR: 1.28 (95% CI: 1.16–1.42)) to have received or had a referral to a behavioural change intervention and had a stop smoking drug prescribed if they were a current smoker
  - **19% less likely** (OR: 0.81 (95% CI: 0.72–0.91))-have been **referred to PR** in the past 3 years if they had an MRC score of 3–5.
- Current smokers relative to people who hadn't smoked for at least 4 years were:
  - 31% more likely (OR: 1.31 (95% CI: 1.12–1.52)) to have a post-bronchodilator FEV1/FVC <0.7 recorded</li>
  - **47% less likely** (OR: 0.53 (95% CI: 0.51–0.54)) to have received **flu immunisation** in the preceding 1 August–31 March
  - **10% less likely** (OR: 0.90 (95% CI: 0.85–0.94)) to have been **referred to PR** in the past 3 years if they had any MRC score.
- The 10% most deprived patients (by Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation) relative to the 50% least deprived were:
  - **7% less likely** (OR: 0.93 (95% CI: 0.89–0.98)) to have an MRC score recorded in the past year
  - 26% more likely (OR: 1.26 (95% CI: 1.19–1.33)) to be asked about smoking. There was a significant trend of increasing likelihood with increasing deprivation (p<0.0001)</li>
  - 27% less likely (OR: 0.73 (95% CI: 0.69–0.77)) to receive the flu immunisation. There was a significant trend of decreasing likelihood of immunisation with increasing deprivation (p<0.0001)</li>
  - 29% more likely (OR: 1.29 (95% CI: 1.14–1.46)) to have received or had a referral to a behavioural change intervention and had a stop smoking drug prescribed if they were a current smoker. There was a significant trend of increasing likelihood with increasing deprivation (p<0.0001)</li>
  - **19% more likely** (OR: 1.19 (95% CI: 1.10–1.28)) to have been **referred to PR** in the past 3 years if they had any MRC score. There was a significant trend of increasing likelihood with increasing deprivation (p<0.0001).



#### **Quality improvement opportunities**

- Health boards should work closely with public health teams to examine their data and to see whether these differences are factors that impact on the known variation in outcomes between socioeconomic groups, those with SMI, and those who smoke.
- SMI:
  - What proportion of patients on your SMI register have been assessed for breathlessness and cough?
  - Have they had appropriate diagnostic tests for COPD?
  - Have they been referred to PR or invited to an annual review? What are the barriers that prevent them from attending these? It is important that we understand and address the factors that might prevent people from attending.

#### Recommendations

#### **Primary care**

- Start with a comprehensive breathlessness assessment. If the cause is COPD, then ensure that the correct spirometric test is appropriately documented and the reason for doing the assessment is clearly explainable to your patient's satisfaction.
- If a patient has a co-diagnosis of asthma and COPD, ensure the rationale is documented.
- Use Read codes/recording systems consistently, so you can be assured of the accuracy of patient records; for example, use the code 339m when recording spirometry.
- Use your time productively at annual review. Ask about breathlessness and tobacco use, assess quality of life, and record exacerbations.
- Ensure parity and equity of care by working to deliver the most appropriate care to those more vulnerable or in need of more tailored care (eg patients with SMI).

#### People with or worried about COPD, their families and carers

- Ask your GP or specialist why they think COPD is the cause of your breathlessness. If you are worried about your breathing, do the BLF online breathlessness test: www.blf.org.uk/support-for-you/breathlessness/blf-breath-test
- Understand whether you are receiving the care you are entitled to by completing the BLF's 10 steps to good COPD care: https://passport.blf.org.uk/
- If you smoke, do not be embarrassed to ask for medical help. Stopping smoking will be the most effective treatment for your COPD.

#### **Respiratory specialists**

- Work with primary care health professionals to develop respiratory symptom assessment processes for COPD (eg breathlessness) that can be used regionally. Ensure that you work with relevant stakeholders (eg cardiologists/breathlessness services).
- Communicate results to GPs using agreed terminology to avoid duplication.

#### **System managers**

- Ensure that contracts and pathways demand that people are adequately trained for the jobs they do, particular in relation to spirometry.
- Work with providers of PR to ensure that PR referral takes place and that there is suitable resource to deliver it.
- Reconsider the measurement of quality and outcomes in COPD. Work with local and primary care specialists to select and use metrics that drive continuous improvement.

# **Document purpose**

Document purpose	To disseminate the results of the national COPD primary care audit (Wales) 2015– 17		
Title	Planning for every breath. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Primary care audit (Wales) 2015–17. National report. December 2017		
Author	Baxter N, McMillan V, Holzhauer-Barrie J, Robinson S, Stone P, Quint J, Roberts CM (on behalf of the National COPD Audit Programme's primary care workstream group)		
Publication date	14 December 2017		
Audience	Healthcare professionals; NHS managers, chief executives and board members; service commissioners; policymakers; voluntary organisations; patient support groups; COPD patients and their families/carers; and the public.		
Description	This is the second of the Welsh COPD primary care audit reports, published as part of the National COPD Audit Programme. This report details national data relating to primary-care-delivered COPD care in Wales. The report is relevant to anyone with an interest in COPD. It provides a broad view of primary care services, and will enable lay people, as well as experts, to understand how COPD services function currently, and where change needs to occur. The information, key findings and recommendations outlined in the report are designed to provide readers with a basis for identifying areas in need of change and to facilitate development of improvement programmes that are relevant not only to primary care providers, but also to commissioners and policymakers.		
Supersedes	This report adds to the learning contained in the first Welsh primary care audit report, which was published in October 2016. There is no scheduled review date for the report, which details the results of a discrete primary care audit.		
Related publications	Baxter N, Holzhauer-Barrie J, McMillan V, Saleem Khan M, Skipper E, Roberts CM. Time to take a breath. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Clinical audit of COPD in primary care in Wales 2014–15. National clinical audit report. London: RCP, 2016. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/primary-care-time-take-breath		
Contact	COPD@rcplondon.ac.uk		

#### References

<sup>1</sup> Primary care audit 2017 audit queries. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/national-copd-primary-care-audit-wales-2015-17-resources [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>2</sup> Baxter N, Holzhauer-Barrie J, McMillan V, Saleem Khan M, Skipper E, Roberts CM. *Time to take a breath. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Clinical audit of COPD in primary care in Wales 2014–15. National clinical audit report.* London: RCP, 2016. https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/primary-care-time-take-breath

<sup>3</sup> Stone RA, Holzhauer-Barrie J, Lowe D, Searle L, Skipper E, Welham S, Roberts CM. *COPD: Who cares matters. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: Clinical audit of COPD exacerbations admitted to acute units in England and Wales 2014.* National clinical audit report. London: RCP, February 2015.

www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/copd-who-cares-matters-clinical-audit-2014 [Accessed November 2017]. <sup>4</sup> Anstey K, Lowe D, Roberts CM, Hosker H. *Report of the 2003 National COPD Audit*. London: RCP, September 2004. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/national-copd-audit-2003 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>5</sup> Buckingham RJ, Lowe D, Pursey NA, Roberts CM, Stone RA. *Report of the National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Audit 2008: clinical audit of COPD exacerbations admitted to acute NHS units across the UK*. London: RCP, November 2008. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/national-copd-audit-2008 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>6</sup> Decramer M, Janssens W. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and comorbidities. *Lancet Respir Med* 2013;1:73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(12)70060-7

<sup>7</sup> Divo M, Cote C, de Torres JP *et al.* Comorbidities and risk of mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;186:155–61. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201201-00340C

 <sup>8</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Depression in adults with a chronic physical health problem: recognition and management (CG91). London: NICE, 2009. www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG91 [Accessed November 2017].
 <sup>9</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Generalised anxiety disorder and panic disorder in adults:

*management (CG113).* London: NICE, 2011. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG113 [Accessed November 2017]. <sup>10</sup> Abebaw YM, Veroge AS. Depression and anxiety in patients with COPD. *Eur Respir Rev* 2014;23:345–9. https://doi.org/10.1183/09059180.00007813

<sup>11</sup> Pooler A, Beech R. Examining the relationship between anxiety and depression and exacerbations of COPD which result in hospital admission: a systematic review. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis* 2014;9:315–30. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S53255

<sup>12</sup> Panagioti M, Scott C, Blakemore A, Coventry PA. Overview of the prevalence, impact, and management of depression and anxiety in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis* 2014;9:1289–306. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S72073

<sup>13</sup> Cullen K, Talbot D, Gillmor J*et al.* Effect of baseline anxiety and depression symptoms on selected outcomes following pulmonary rehabilitation. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev* 2017;37:279–82. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR.0000000000258

<sup>14</sup> Welsh Government. General medical services contract: Quality and outcomes framework http://gov.wales/statisticsand-research/general-medical-services-contract/?lang=en [Accessed December 2017]

<sup>15</sup> Nissen F, Morales DR, Mullerova H *et al*. Validation of asthma recording in the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD). *BMJ Open* 2017;7:e017474. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017474

<sup>16</sup> Nissen F, Quint JK, Wilkinson S *et al*. Validation of asthma recording in electronic health records: protocol for a systematic review. *BMJ Open* 2017;7:e014694. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014694

<sup>17</sup> Nissen F, Morales D, Mullerova H *et al*. Misdiagnosis of COPD in asthma patients in the UK Electronic Health Records (Clinical Practice Research Datalink). *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017;195:A2026.

www.atsjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1164/ajrccm-conference.2017.195.1\_MeetingAbstracts.A2026 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>18</sup> Primary Care Respiratory Academy. *Clinical resources: Tobacco control and treating tobacco dependancy.* 

www.respiratoryacademy.co.uk/clinical-resources/tobacco-control-treating-tobacco-dependancy/[Accessed November 2017].

<sup>19</sup> Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. *Pocket guide to COPD diagnosis, management, and prevention: a guide for health care professionals*. GOLD, 2017. http://goldcopd.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/wms-GOLD-2017-Pocket-Guide.pdf [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>20</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults (QS10)*. London: NICE, 2016. www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/QS10 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>21</sup> British Thoracic Society and Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. *BTS/SIGN British guideline on the management of asthma*. London: BTS, 2016. www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/standards-of-care/guidelines/btssign-british-guideline-on-the-management-of-asthma/ [Accessed November 2017].

© Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership 2017

<sup>22</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Asthma (QS25)*. London: NICE, 2013.

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs25 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>23</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in over 16s: diagnosis and management (partial update) (CG101). London: NICE, 2010. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG101 [Accessed November

2017]. <sup>24</sup> NHS Choices. *Shortness of breath.* www.nhs.uk/Conditions/shortness-of-breath/Pages/Introduction.aspx [Accessed

<sup>25</sup> Hawkins NM, Petrie MC, Jhund PS et al. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: diagnostic pitfalls and epidemiology. Eur J Heart Fail 2009;11:130–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjhf/hfn013

Hopkinson NS, Baxter N on behalf of London Respiratory Network. Breathing SPACE - a practical approach to the breathless patient. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med 2017;27:5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41533-016-0006-6

<sup>27</sup> Tinkelman DG, Price DB, Nordyke RJ, Halbert RJ. Misdiagnosis of COPD and asthma in primary care patients 40 years of age and over. J Asthma 2006;43:75–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/02770900500448738

Izquierdo JL, Martín A, de Lucas P et al. Misdiagnosis of patients receiving inhaled therapies in primary care. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2010;5:241–9. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S11123

<sup>29</sup> James WY, Jolliffe D, Islam K et al. Over-diagnosis of COPD in UK primary care. Eur Respir J 2012;40 (Suppl 56):P1212. http://erj.ersjournals.com/content/40/Suppl\_56/P1212 [Accessed December 2017].

<sup>30</sup> Punekar YS, Naya I, Small M et al. Bronchodilator reliever use and its association with the economic and humanistic burden of COPD: a propensity-matched study. J Med Econ 2017;20:28-36.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13696998.2016.1223085

<sup>31</sup> Lewis A, Torvinen S, Dekhuijaen PN *et al*. The economic burden of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the impact of poor inhalation technique with commonly prescribed dry powder inhalers in three European countries. BMC Health Serv Res 2016;16:251. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1482-7

<sup>32</sup> Welsh Government. *Together for health: respiratory annual report 2015.* 

www.wales.nhs.uk/documents/27724\_English%20Combined%20WEB.PDF [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>33</sup> The Institute of Clinical Science & Technology. *ARTP spirometry e-learning (full)*.

www.clinicalscience.org.uk/course/artp-spirometry-e-learning-full/[Accessed November 2017]. <sup>34</sup> Association of Respiratory Technology & Physiology. *ARTP e-Spirometry*. www.artp.org.uk/en/spirometry/espiro.cfm [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>35</sup> Mak V. Treatment guidelines for COPD – going for GOLD? Primary Care Respiratory Update 2017;4:19–24. https://pcrsuk.org/sites/pcrs-uk.org/files/GoingforGOLD\_PCRUSept2017.pdf [Accessed November 2017].

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Patient information: Breathless Intervention Service. Leaflet 1: the breathing thinking functioning (BTF) approach. www.cuh.nhs.uk/breathlessness-intervention-servicebis/resources/patient-information-leaflets [Accessed November 2017].

Booth S, Burkin J, Moffat C, Spathis A. The genesis and assessment of breathlessness. In: Managing breathlessness in clinical practice. London: Springer, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-4754-1\_2

<sup>38</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Smoking: supporting people to stop (QS43)*. London: NICE, 2013. www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/QS43 [Accessed November 2017]. <sup>39</sup> Rothnie KJ, Müllerová H, Thomas SL *et al*. Recording of hospitalizations for acute exacerbations of COPD in UK

electronic health care records. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:771–82. https://doi.org.10.2147/CLEP.S117867

Roberts CM, Bugler JR, Melchor R et al. Value of pulse oximetry in screening for long-term oxygen therapy requirement. *Eur Respir J* 1993;6:559–62.

British Lung Foundation. Key facts about your COPD. www.blf.org.uk/support-for-you/copd/key-facts [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>42</sup> NHS Choices. *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): treatment.* www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Chronic-obstructivepulmonary-disease/Pages/Treatment.aspx [Accessed November 2017].

Royal College of Physicians. Smoking and mental health. London: RCP, 2013.

www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/smoking-and-mental-health [Accessed November 2017]. <sup>44</sup> International COPD Coalition, Wonca, European Federation of Allergy and Airways Diseases Patients Associations, and International Primary Care Respiratory Group. Clinical use of pulse oximetry: pocket reference 2010. www.copdalert.com/OximetryPG.pdf [Accessed November 2017].

Chrystyn H, van der Palen J, Sharma R et al. Device errors in asthma and COPD: systematic literature review and metaanalysis. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med 2017;27:22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41533-017-0016-z

<sup>46</sup> National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults (QS10)*. London: NICE, 2016. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gs10/chapter/list-of-guality-statements [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>47</sup> Wongsuriakat P, Maranetra KN, Wasi C *et al*. Acute respiratory illness in patients with COPD and the effectiveness of influenza vaccination: a randomized controlled study. *Chest* 2004;125:2011–20.

https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.125.6.2011

<sup>48</sup> Man W D-C, Grant A, Hogg L *et al*. Pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with MRC dyspnoea scale 2. *Thorax* 2011;66:263. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.2010.136085
 <sup>49</sup> Evans RA. Singh S. Collier D. William 15. The second scale 2. *Thorax* 2012;66:263. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.2010.136085

<sup>49</sup> Evans RA, Singh S, Collier R, Williams JE, Morgan MDL. Pulmonary rehabilitation is successful for COPD irrespective of MRC dyspnoea grade. *Respir Med* 2009;103:1070–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2009.01.009

<sup>50</sup> Public Health Wales. *Immunisation and vaccines*. www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/43510 [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>51</sup> National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. *Introducing the NCSCT*. www.ncsct.co.uk/publication\_introducing-the-ncsct.php [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>52</sup> National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. *NCSCT training programmes.* www.ncsct.co.uk/pub\_training.php [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>53</sup> Health Foundation. *Making waves: spreading a life-changing model for informal COPD clinics*. 2016. www.health.org.uk/newsletter/making-waves-spreading-life-changing-model-informal-copd-clinics [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>54</sup> Pierobon A, Sini Botelli E, Ranzini L *et al*. COPD patients' self-reported adherence, psychosocial factors and mild cognitive impairment in pulmonary rehabilitation. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis* 2017;12:2059–67. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S133586

<sup>55</sup> Ng TP, Niti M, Tan WC, et al. Depressive Symptoms and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Effect on Mortality, Hospital Readmission, Symptom Burden, Functional Status, and Quality of Life. *Arch Intern Med*. 2007;167(1):60–67. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.1.60

<sup>56</sup> Kim HF, Kunik ME, Molinari VA, et al. Functional impairment in COPD patients: the impact of anxiety and depression. *Psychosomatics*. 2000 Nov-Dec;41(6):465-71.

<sup>57</sup> Xu W, Collet JP, Shapiro S, et al. Independent effect of depression and anxiety on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations and hospitalizations. *AmJ Respir Crit Care Med*. 2008 Nov 1;178(9):913-20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200804-619OC.

<sup>58</sup> NHS Wales. *Doing well, doing better. Standards for health services in Wales: supporting guidance*, October 2010. www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/866/Standards%20for%20Health%20Services%20Supporting%20Guidance%20F INAL%20October%202010%20%282%29.pdf [Accessed November 2017].

<sup>59</sup> Gershon AS, Dolmage TE, Stephenson A, Jackson B. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and socioeconomic status: a systematic review. *COPD: J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis* 2012;9:216–26. https://doi.org/10.3109/15412555.2011.648030

<sup>60</sup> Jones PW, Gelhorn H, Wilson H *et al*. Socioeconomic status as a determinant of health status treatment response in COPD trials. *Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis* 2011;4:150–8. https://doi.org/10.15326/jcopdf.4.2.2017.0132

<sup>61</sup> Greenland S, Thomas DC. On the need for the rare disease assumption in case–control studies. *Am J Epidemiol* 1982;116:547–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113439



For further information on the overall audit programme or any of the workstreams, please see our website or contact the National COPD Audit Programme team directly:

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme Royal College of Physicians 11 St Andrews Place Regent's Park, London NW1 4LE

Tel: +44 (020) 3075 1502/1526/1566/1565 Email: copd@rcplondon.ac.uk www.rcplondon.ac.uk/copd

@NatCOPDAudit #COPDAudit #COPDtakeabreath If you would like to join our mailing list and be kept informed of updates and developments in the National COPD Audit Programme, please send us your email address and contact details.

Commissioned by:

